## **BOROUGH OF HASBROUCK HEIGHTS**

## MINUTES

## October 28, 2008

A Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council of the Borough of Hasbrouck Heights was held on Tuesday, October 28, 2008 at 8:04 p.m. at Borough Hall, 320 Boulevard, Hasbrouck Heights, New Jersey.

Borough Clerk Rose Marie Sees stated that the meeting complied with the Sunshine Law, adequate notice of this meeting having been made to all members of the Council by personal service on January 2, 2008 and transmitted to The Observer, The Record and The Herald News on January 2, 2008.

ROLL CALL: Present: Mayor Rose Heck, Councilman Justin A. DiPisa, Councilwoman Maryetta Saccomano, Councilman Anthony DiNanno, Councilman Stephen Altobelli, Councilwoman Sonya Buckman. Councilman David Gonzalez

Absent: None

**SALUTE TO THE FLAG AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE**: Mayor Heck led in the Salute to the Flag and Pledge of Allegiance.

**INVOCATION**: The Invocation was given by Councilman DiNanno

"A Prayer to know the way of peace. Father of heaven and earth, hear my prayer and show me the way to peace. Guide each effort of my life so that my faults and my sins may not keep me from the peace you promised. May the new life of grace you give to me through the Eucharist and prayer make my love for you grow and keep me in the joy of your kindgom, Amen."

PROCLAMATION: Proclaiming October 19-25, 2008 as NJSFWC Membership Week

WHEREAS, the New Jersey State Federation of Women's Clubs of GFWC (NJSFWC) was organized November 16, 1894 to provide opportunities for women in education, leadership training and community service, and continues to be one of the oldest and largest non-denominational, non-partisan service organizations of volunteer women in the State of New Jersey, with more than 10,000 members in 275 local clubs; and

# PROCLAMATION (cont'd):

WHEREAS, throughout its 114-year history, NJSFWC members have worked in their communities to assist in a variety of activities, such as founding the New Jersey College for Women (Douglass College); preserving the Palisades of the Hudson; saving the New Jersey Highlands; supporting the Community FoodBank of New Jersey, statewide Domestic Violence Shelters, Special Olympics, Operation Smile, CARE and UNICEF, while contributing to many other charities, academic scholarships, community libraries, and beautification of local areas; and

WHEREAS, the GFWC Contemporary Club of Hasbrouck Heights is a member of NJSFWC celebrating 64 years of service to this community, have provided a variety of assistance projects such as low exit signs in all the schools of Hasbrouck Heights, worked with Rebuilding together to spruce up property of borough residents who were unable to do so, took part in renovations to Woodland Park, and many other local beautification projects;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Mayor and Council of the Borough of Hasbrouck Heights does hereby proclaim the week of October 19-25, 2008 as NJSFWC Membership Week on this 28<sup>th</sup> day of October, 2008 in recognition of the many hours of service members of the New Jersey State Federation of Women's Clubs of GFWC have provided to this community and others.

/s/ Rose Heck, Mayor

**COMMUNICATIONS:** 

1) Letter from PFC Derek Hernandez who has been

deployed to Iraq

2) Letter of congratulations on the successful health fair from Assemblywoman Connie Wagner

Items #1 and #2 were requested to be read into the record (copies attached).

On a motion by Councilman DiPisa, seconded by Councilman Gonzalez, and unanimously carried, the Communications were accepted.

**PETITIONS:** None

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: (October 14, 2008 Regular Meeting, October 14, 2008

Work Session)

On a motion by Councilman DiNanno, seconded by Councilwoman Saccomano, and unanimously carried, the foregoing Minutes were approved.

### **BILLS:**

WHEREAS, claims and accounts amounting to \$362,822.36 specified in the schedule hereto annexed, have been examined and approved by the Finance Commissioner, or his Deputy; and

WHEREAS, the Chief Financial Officer has certified that funds are available in the accounts listed for payment of the claims;

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the claims be paid and checks be issued on the funds and accounts indicated on the attached schedule.

Signed Justin A. DiPisa Commissioner of Finance

On a motion by Councilman DiPisa, seconded by Councilman DiNanno, and unanimously carried, the foregoing Resolution was adopted.

#### **REPORTS:**

**POLICE:** Under Police, Mayor/Commissioner Heck first thanked everyone for getting the Oldfield Avenue project moving, with the work being paid for by the property owner and the sidewalk and guide rail on Washington Place to be completed in the next week. She reported on the Police Department News, noting that two new patrol vehicles were placed into service to replace the old Traffic Dept. SUV and a patrol car. The semiannual firearms qualifications was conducted at the pistol range. Chief Colaneri, Captain Cronin and Patrolman Donohue received training in the new reverse 9-1-1 notification. A DWI checkpoint was held on October 18, 2008, resulting in four arrests, two for CD and six revoked and nine impounds. Chief Colaneri asked for various youth events to be held on Mischief Night and that parents keep their children home that night. Curfew will be strictly enforced. Ron Inqui of RC Landscaping was thanked for planting new mums at the Police Memorial. Mayor Heck thanked the DPW for planting mums around the Circle. Summons for the month of September included 347 Parking violations versus 475 in August 2007, with year to date totals for 2008 - 3,613 and in 2007 - 3,751. Moving violations were 221 versus 179 in 2007, with a year to date of 1,639 in 2008 and 1,725 in 2007. Total Violations were 568 in September 2008 and 654 in September 2007, with a year to date of 5,252 in 2008 and 5,476 in 2007. Under the General Complaints report, she noted there were 84 ambulance requests, 3 Teterboro ambulance requests, 11 ambulance w/paramedics, 3 animal bite, 24 animal complaints, 28 assisting other agencies, 1 attempted suicide, 1 auto theft, 11 ordinance violations, 27 commercial burglar alarm complaints, 22 residential burglar alarm complaints, 2 burglary-residential, 1 carbon monixide alarm, 45 cell phone 9-1-1 calls, 1 child custody dispute, 8 criminal mischief business, 12 customer disputes, 14 disabled vehicles, 2 disorderly conduct, 2 disorderly conduct fight, 18 domestic violence calls, 10

# POLICE (cont'd):

domestic violence orders, 6 DUI, 1 erratic driver, 3 family dispute, 12 Fire, 28 fire alarms, 2 fraud bad checks, 3 gas leaks, 45 general complaints, 2 general disputes, 3 harassments, 2 identity theft, 1 juvenile runaway, 4 juvenile delinquency, 6 juvenile incidents, 11 lock out of motor vehicle, 2 lock out residence, 4 lost articles, 1 missing person, 7 neighbor disputes, 18 noise complaints, 1 possession opium/cocaine, 4 property damage, 2 recovered motor vehicle, 6 sewer backup, 25 suspicious incidents, 27 suspicious persons, 18 suspicious vehicles, 12 Teterboro 9-1-1 calls, 5 theft, 3 theft from auto, 2 theft of bikes, 17 traffic accidents county roads, 9 borough traffic accidents, 12 traffic accidents-private, 34 traffic accidents state roads, 102 traffic enforcement, 49 traffic related services, for a total of 1,066 complaints.

FINANCE, HEALTH & PUBLIC FACILITIES: Under Finance, Councilman DiPisa read the following Finance Report: the current fund cash balance as of September 30, 2008 was \$1,518,849.13; on August 31, 2008 was \$4,015,349.25, which represents a decrease of \$2,496,500.12. The entire balance was invested and is earning 2.29%. Cash receipts for September totaled \$793,061.86 of which \$219,377.21 was for current taxes, \$3,799.11 was for prepaid taxes, \$405,116.40 was State Aid, and \$164,769.14 was miscellaneous revenues. Cash disbursements for September totaled \$3,289,561.98 of which \$1,697,323.83 was local school taxes, \$592,160.26 was salaries, \$487,789.38 was Debt Service and \$512,288.517 was for other expenses. He continued that on Oct. 21, Mayor Heck and members of the Finance Committee. including Councilman DiPisa, Councilwoman Buckman and CFO/Admin. Michael Kronyak held an open forum to discuss local taxes and the municipal budget process with approximately 35 residents in attendance. Under Health, he reported on October 18, a Health Fair Expo was held with number of vendors increasing and the turnout good. He thanked Lori French, Pam Link and the members of the Board of Health. He continued that Flu shots for residents over 65 years of age will be held on November 7. Under Public Facilities, he reported the heating system was turned on and inspected in Borough Hall, the heater at the Franklin Avenue Pump Station was serviced and the double doors in Borough Hall received maintenance. The Masonic Education Center entry way was painted by the DPW. Events held in Borough Hall included 13 in the Community Room, 7 in the Caucus Room, 8 in the Senior Center (not including Senior activities), 4 in the Council Chambers and 1 in the Recreation Center. As Recycling Liaison, he reported under the Hasbrouck Heights Recycling Programs, giveaways were provided to the Environmental Commission who handed out biodegradable leaf bags, cloth grocery shopping bags, coloring books and crayons, rulers and pencils and recycling logo stickers at Town Day.

**SOCIAL SERVICES:** Under Social Services, Councilwoman Saccomano reported the following Food Drives were held and many items delivered for the Food Pantry this past month. Lincoln School PTA/Dina Pomerico, Cub Scout Pack 17/Ken Hesse, Corpus Christi Brown Bag Sunday, St. John's Episcopal Church and the United Methodist Church. Generous monetary donations and/or gift cards were received from the Crop

# **SOCIAL SERVICES (cont'd):**

Walk, Town Day, Bertha Spada and Madelyn Sandner. This is in addition to the many bags of groceries received, some generous givers bringing bags of items in weekly – Kathy and Veronica Van Jura, Kay Hoffman, McCarthy Family, Pat Thomasey, Josephine, Melissa Nazzaro, Laura Baker, Bernice Baker, Gloria Cotter, Arlene Carreau, Ginny Santoro, Mr. Kinzley, Mr. Marcus, Lynn Taylor, Carla Caulkin, Mrs. Bright, Kristen and Ryan. She reminded residents that turkeys will be accepted for the holidays.

**PARKS:** Under Parks, Commissioner DiNanno reported the DPW had cleaned up Woodland Park in preparation for Town Day which was held October 4. A tree that had split in half during a storm, was removed from the area that hung over the organization tables and fallen limbs were removed throughout the park. Mums were planted around the Circle by the DPW and Girl Scout Troop 606 provided and planted mums around the Message Board outside Borough Hall. A special thanks was extended to Mrs. Presti and the girl scouts on a job well done.

**TRANSPORTATION:** Under Transportation, Commissioner Altobelli reminded the public that Teterboro Airport improved the ability to report noise complaints, jet fumes and window rattling, etc. by calling 201-288-8828 or online by <a href="www.teb.com">www.teb.com</a>. A response should be received within a day or so. Reports to the Airport were important to monitor feedback.

LAND USE & RECREATION: Under Land Use, Commissioner Buckman reported under property maintenance, there were 14 complaints made with ten resolved and four still pending, nine verbal warnings, five written violation warnings, two verbal warnings for placing garbage on the curb too early, two summonses issued, two summonses heard in Municipal Court, two warning letters mailed, one verbal stop work order for not having a permit, and two verbal stop work orders for working past the allotted time on Saturday, Under Recreation, she reported that Town Day was held on October 4, with "Double Tap" performing and the Fire Department demonstrating life saving scenarios. Over 35 town organizations participated. Halloween in the Park was held October 16. and all involved were thanked, Al DeAngelo, Tony Bonillo, John Baratta, Eileen Kiick, Ed Gumbrecht, Pat Link, Lori French, Pat Campen, Chris Zamski and Fun Time Entertainment, Ray Vorisek of Heights Flower Shoppe and student volunteers, Peter Bothe of the B.C. Parks Department for the hayride, the Hasbrouck Heights Police, Fire and DPW departments. The Commissioner personally thanked Rob Brady for organizing these events. Registrations were still being accepted for Youth Basketball, Wrestling will begin practice, Wrestlastics registration will be held mid November. Adult programs will run through the winter months. The Youth Center will open in December for grades 6 through 8. As Library liaison, she reminded everyone of the Book, Bake and Table Top Sale November 1 and 2.

FIRE, STREETS & SANITATION: Under Fire, Commissioner Gonzalez reported from September 1 through September 30 there were 42 fire calls, 21 non fire emergency calls and 177 EMS calls. From October 1 through 26, there were 27 fire calls, 7 non fire emergency calls and 109 EMS calls. The Fire Department covered football games, Town Day, Halloween in the Park, the High School Band Competition, the Ragamuffin Parade, the Outdoor Mall and had visited the schools during Fire Prevention Week. He cautioned the use of candles, especially during the holidays. Under Streets & Sanitation, he reported the 2008 Road Resurfacing Program was completed on October 22 which included Washington Place from the Boulevard to Woodside Avenue, Cleveland Avenue from Wood Street to Woodland Drive, Oldfield Avenue from Franklin to Passaic Avenues and the entire length of Railroad Avenue. Prior to repaving Railroad Avenue, the DPW rebuilt a stormwater catch basin. He continued that Leaf Season has started and residents may place leaves in the street (not within 10 feet of a stormwater catch basin), or placed at the curb in paper leaf bags or upright containers. Leaves in plastic bags will not be collected. Limbs, branches, or bush must not be mixed in with leaves but separately bundled and tied and put at the curb for branch collection (see Recycling Calendar). The last day to put out leaves in the street is December 1, and after that they must be bagged. The Shade Tree Department with the aid of PSE&G finished the dead tree list with respect to trees affected by high voltage lines. Repairs were made to Garbage Truck 101, Garbage Truck 102, the Dump Truck with Salt Spreader and the Salt Spreader. In answer to a question, Brita water filters were not recyclable, and products such as pipes, cabinets, sheds, fences, swings, above ground pool structures, car batteries and used motor oil, tires and antifreeze must be brought to the Recycling Center.

### **MAYOR'S REPORT:**

Mayor Heck gave her report as follows:

<u>"Sept. 27 Town Day Saturday</u> was a big success. Another Cloudy Drizzly day in the beginning but then the sun broke through. The Environmental and Transportation Commission again gave out Leaf bags. They continue to promote Our Recycling Container at the Central Avenue Parking Lot site from 7 am to noon; it will be there again Nov. 1 –The first Saturday of each month.

# Oct. 1, Wednesday, Attended the Planning Board Meeting.

Oct. 11<sup>th</sup> Attended The Research Committee Meeting at 9 am. A special Survey is being compiled under the leadership of Bill Foley and Michael Kronyak with input from Committee Members. It will be e-mailed by Borough Clerk Ro Sees to the other 565 Towns when completed. The follow-up Survey Form thus far includes four categories covering 1. Substantial Financial Impact on the community. 2. Environmental Improvement. 3. Energy Conservation. 4. Public Good Will and within each category the same five areas: staffing, equipment, departments, programs and other.

# MAYOR'S REPORT (cont'd):

A meeting is set for November for the Committee to review, approve and then send out the form.

Oct. 14 Police Committee Meeting was held. Dep. Commissioner Sonya Buckman, Police Chief Colaneri and I met to discuss a number of topics.

Oct. 15<sup>th</sup>. Performed a Wedding in the Council Chambers. Then I attended the Business Community Meeting.

Oct. 16<sup>th</sup>. I Attended the HH chamber of commerce Meeting at The Holiday Inn at 7:30 am. Then I met with Borough Clerk Ro Sees and Business Administrator Mike Kronyak.

6 p.m. Attended the Care on the Corner Tricky Tray event, and then attended the Fundraising Dinner Dance sponsored by the HH Education Foundation at the Landmark. I presented four awards on behalf of the Mayor and Council to HHHS Athletic Director John Tessaro Community Volunteer Anne Ciavaglia (now Mrs. Brian McMahon), HHHS Coach Nick Delcalzo, and Police Chief Michael Colaneri.

Oct. 18<sup>th</sup>, Saturday – Attended the Very Successful Board of Health Fair. The displays were varied and residents came out in large numbers to participate.

Oct. 21, Saturday, 7:30 a.m. Attended the Bergen County League of Mayors Breakfast: at the Arena Diner. U.S. Attorney Chris Christie was the Guest Speaker. He spoke at length about the 131 indictments made by his office with results of 131 convictions. He stressed the need for federal investigations on the ever-growing gangs, such as The Bloods, and The Latin Kings, and how they are the "Mafia" of the 21st Century and are on our doorsteps. He commended the local Law Enforcement, Police Departments, their work. He gave us details of the numerous arrests made beginning with Pleasantville, a community outside Atlantic City, where his department just picked a name. A Health Insurance L.L.C., made up cards, and were able to get the mayor of that town to come forward asking for \$25,000 to get that town's business and a couple of thousand for the Council. That grew into his recommendation where other towns did business that same way. That resulted in two Assemblymen who held office in those areas and who asked for the same Dollars to get each of those towns' business. They were indicted and the rest is history. He said they could have gone on to other towns, but time did not allow, since those towns would not have been covered by real insurance and they had to stop.

He did note that by this time next year there should be arrests made in the Finance/Banking area; this in answer to the Mayor of Alpine who asked what about the mess in the finance area that we are feeling nationwide and those CEOs leaving with Millions of dollars in pay. Christie responded the investigations are already in progress and you should be reading about indictments this time next year.

### MAYOR'S REPORT (cont'd):

At 9:30 a.m. that same day, I was a Panelist at Bergen Leads. Assemblywoman Valerie Huttle and Former Freeholder Elizabeth Randall who now serves as the Board of Public Utilities Commissioner were on the Panel as well with Former County Executive William "Pat" Schuber, Chair of Bergen Leads. We spoke and answered questions to approximately 50 people in attendance. They are part of a year long, once a month study group of future leaders, who were given a "scholarship" to participate.

Oct. 22 Wednesday, 7 pm Attended the TANAAC Meeting in Moonachie. As Chair of the Legislative Committee, I recommended a priority to be addressed in the Year 2009 to be a study of the Airport Radio Tower Operators, training and equipment and that of the area TriCon Air Traffic Control Operations in the New York Metropolitan Area. I said this safety measure is something that should be addressed and recommendations made to the U.S. Senators and Congressional Leaders. The idea was met with enthusiasm and the need for same endorsed. The Committee will meet with the Airport Manager and Radio Tower Director.

<u>Friday Oct. 24<sup>th</sup> attended a special service and tea</u>, at Corpus Christi School given by the Eighth Grade Students.

<u>During September and October</u>, Mayor's Business Community Committee had several meetings to both complete the planning for the Oct. 25<sup>th</sup> – Second Outdoor Mall and to hear Promoters who work in other towns on an annual basis. They gave complete background information and each gave the Committee a long list of town names in which they work. An analysis is in the process of being made for the year 2009 and I will give a report as soon as that is completed.

Yes we had a very windy, rainy day for our Second Outdoor Mall. It proved to be a success event though about half of the 30 some odd vendors we expected did not attend. Those who did had a successful day. The people who attended enjoyed the event under the Big Tent. Prizes every hour on the hour were given out and all were in good humor. My thanks again to Coordinators David Fanale of Century 21 Eudan Realty and Bill Lenox of Lenox Towing with the assistance and cooperation of Chamber of Commerce President Ray Vorisek of The Heights Flower Shoppe and Fritz Rethage of The Gazette and Jason Cosimano of Otterstedt Insurance along with members Ron Kistner of Hekemian, Tom Meli Mickey's Foundation, Joe Manginelli of Fresh Affair, Maryellen Courtney of Gateway Realtors, Sam Papsavas of BeJay Drugs, Joe Costa of IHOP, Bill O'Shea of O'Shea's Florist and Gifts, , Jack Zaorskof the Ivy Inn, Al Hamdi General Mgr. of The Hilton Hotel and Bill Kundert of Kundert Motors.

Special Thanks to Al Hamdi General Manager of The Hilton Hotel and Joe Costa of IHOP who donated over a dozen prizes for the Free Raffle; plus a Big Thank You to Jason Cosimano of Otterstedt Insurance who donated \$1,000 to sponsor the Big Tent. The children enjoyed the Fun Time Bounce House for as long as it was able to

# MAYOR'S REPORT (cont'd):

withstand the high winds that came our way. Our thanks again to "The Fun Time Bounce House with DJ Chris Zamski for the donation of his equipment and service.

This Committee and all those who helped from the Borough – Chief Colaneri, DPW Supt. Bill Spindler, Borough Clerk Ro Sees, Borough Administrator Mike Kronyak, Recreation Director Rob Brady, and all who gave of their time. Thank You so much. What a great group!

Oct. 25<sup>th</sup> Mayor's Community Celebrations Committee Ragamuffin Parade \_ Fantastic Job by all the volunteers. Co-Chair Rosemary Willard pulled everything together at the Center with the help of the Committee.

Committee Member Elaine Adamkiewicz and Councilman Justin DiPisa along with Willard led the Ragamuffin Parade from the Safety Building on Hamilton Avenue to the Municipal Building Senior Center. That's where most of the children came directly with their parents – It was beginning to rain at 1 pm, but it did not deter the revelry in that Room. DJ Rico Ventola led the children in the fun dancing while he changed from Fun Hat to Fun Hat to fit the music. For instance he had a Chicken headpiece during the Chicken Dance, etc. It was fun. No, I did not walk, Ro DiPisa and I went by car and were joined by a mom and her son Brian. We stayed a little while to make certain everyone caught up with the Parade or got a ride to the Center. It was a lot of fun. Rain or no Rain.

Oct. 25<sup>th</sup> Excitement prevailed throughout Saturday with the HHHigh School Band Competition moved up from the evening to 11 a.m. at The Depken Athletic Field. I gave out the Mayor's Awards. My compliments to all those who pushed that up to 11 am. It worked out nicely. Compliments to all the performing Bands under the most adverse conditions from drizzle to rain, to big gusts of wind.

The mayor's Library program continues every Saturday morning from 10 am till noon. This is the time when I meet with any residents who might wish to speak with me. I am very pleased to say that people continue to come, and I will continue to be available.

That concludes my report."

### **NEW BUSINESS:**

**APPOINTMENTS:** Gloria Cotter to Ethical Standards Board

On a motion by Councilman DiPisa, seconded by Councilman Gonzalez, and unanimously carried, the foregoing Appointment was approved.

**CONSENT AGENDA:** None

# Borough of Hasbrouck Heights - 10/28/2008

**RESOLUTIONS**: 180. Authorizing Cancellation of Taxes for 100% Exempt Veterans and Churches

On a motion by Councilwoman Saccomano, seconded by Councilman DiNanno, and unanimously carried, the foregoing Resolution was approved (copy attached).

 Authorizing Contract for Ventilation Improvement Project for DPW Facility

On a motion by Councilman Gonzalez, seconded by Councilman DiNanno, and unanimously carried, the foregoing Resolution was approved (copy attached).

182. Authorizing Reinstatement of Specific Car Wholesalers in the Industrial Zone

On a motion by Councilwoman Saccomano, seconded by Councilman DiNanno, and unanimously carried, the foregoing Resolution was approved (copy attached).

At this point, Councilman Gonzalez noted that as a point of information (referring to the following resolutions) the council should consider that the garbage truck to be replaced is 31 years old and the salt spreader is 38 years old.

183. Authorizing the Borough Clerk to Advertise for Bids for a Garbage Truck for the Use of the DPW

On a motion by Councilman Gonzalez, seconded by Councilman Altobelli, and unanimously carried, the foregoing Resolution was approved (copy attached).

184. Authorizing the Borough Clerk to Advertise for Bids for a Dump Truck with Salt Spreader and Plow for the Use of the DPW

On a motion by Councilman Gonzalez, seconded by Councilman DiNanno, and unanimously carried, the foregoing Resolution was approved (copy attached).

ORDINANCE(S) ON INTRODUCTION: None

ORDINANCE(S) ON PUBLIC HEARING: None

### **MISCELLANEOUS FROM PUBLIC:**

Mayor Heck asked for a motion to open the meeting to the public which was made by Councilman Gonzalez, seconded by Councilman DiNanno, and unanimously carried.

# **MISCELLANEOUS FROM PUBLIC (cont'd):**

Mayor Heck invited anyone from the public wishing to speak to please come forward.

Robert Thomasey, 307 Franklin Avenue, referred to a press release he had with him. Mayor Heck said this was not a place for press releases, only borough business. She would be happy to meet with him after the meeting.

There being no one else wishing to speak, Mayor Heck asked for a motion to close the public portion which was made by Councilman DiNanno, seconded by Councilman Gonzalez, and unanimously carried.

Mayor Heck, as a point of information, regarding the Message Board, that when there is a state of emergency and electricity is not functioning, the Message Board is attached to the generator and will be useful.

### **ADJOURN:**

There being no further business to be conducted by the Mayor and Council, Mayor Heck asked for a motion to adjourn, which was made by Councilman Gonzalez, seconded by Councilman DiNanno and unanimously carried. The meeting was adjourned at 9:01 p.m.

I, ROSE MARIE SEES, Borough Clerk of the Borough of Hasbrouck Heights, do hereby certify that the foregoing Minutes are to the best of my knowledge a true account of the Regular Meeting held on October 28, 2008.

Rose Marie Sees, RMC Borough Clerk